THE STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA
In The Supreme Court

APPEAL FROM OCONEE COUNTY
Court of Common Pleas

J. Cordell Maddox, Jr., Circuit Court Judge

Appellate Case No. 2022-000756

Debi Baker Brookshire,

Appellant,

v.

Community First Bank and
Benjamin Hiott,

Defendants,

Of Which, Community First
Bank is

Respondent.

BRIEF OF PETITIONER/APPELLANT

Warren Blair Giese, SC Bar No. 2219
Kelly L. Giese, SC Bar No. 100089
THE GIESE LAW FIRM, LLC
1821 Hampton Street
Columbia, SC 29201

Jonathan D. Waller
SC Bar No. 76290
210 Newberry Street, NW
Aiken, South Carolina 2801

RECEIVED
MAY 01 2023
S.C. SUPREME COURT

RECEIVED
MAY 01 2023
S.C. SUPREME COURT

ATTORNEYS FOR
PETITIONER/APPELLANT

STATEMENT OF ISSUES ON APPEAL

- a. The Court failed to issue a ruling as to why the debts owed to the Appellant are not considered governed by S.C. Code Ann. § 15-3-110.
- b. The Court erred in finding that a single triggering date for the statute of limitations applies to all occurrences of malfeasance and deceit, even though there were multiple and continuing injuries to the Appellant.
- c. The Court erred in affirming the circuit court's determination that equitable tolling did not suspend the limitations clock and that Community First was not estopped from asserting the statute of limitations.

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

The Appellant filed a Summons and Complaint on September 8, 2014 alleging six (7) causes of action against the Respondent and Benjamin Hiott, including Breach of Fiduciary Duty, Conversion, Negligent Supervision, Negligence/Gross Negligence, Breach of Contract Accompanied by Fraudulent Act, and Accounting. Respondent timely filed an Answer and Counterclaim against Appellant alleging two (2) causes of action for Conversion and Unjust Enrichment. Appellant filed a timely reply to the counterclaims, wherein she raised, among other things, the statute of limitations as a defense to the Respondent's counterclaims.

Defendant Hiott filed a motion to dismiss pursuant to Rule 12, SCRCF on October 30, 2014. By Form 4 Order filed February 2, 2015 and formal Order filed February 25, 2015, the trial court denied Hiott's motion to dismiss. On October 13, 2016 and October 19, 2016 respectively, Respondent and Defendant Hiott each filed motions for summary judgment. A hearing was held December 13, 2016, where the matter was taken under advisement. On August 29, 2017 the court issued a Form 4 Order denying "all Motions for Summary Judgment." On September 8, 2017 the court issued a Form 4 Order replacing and superseding, in its entirety, the Form 4 Order issued on August 29, 2017, and denying Defendant Hiott's motion for summary judgment with a formal order to follow. The trial court issued an Order filed September 26, 2017 granting Respondent's motion for summary judgment and denying Defendant Hiott's motion for summary judgment. Appellant filed a timely Motion to Alter or Amend the Judgment Pursuant to Rule 59(e), SCRCF on October 6, 2017. A hearing was held on Appellant's motion on December 6, 2017, where the matter was taken under advisement. On March 22, 2019 the court issued an Order Denying Appellant's Motion to Alter or Amend Judgment. On April 9, 2019 Appellant

filed a timely notice of appeal. On April 6, 2022, this Court affirmed in part and reversed in part the decision of the circuit court in a per curiam, unpublished opinion. Appellant filed a timely Petition for Rehearing. On May 3, 2022, the Court of Appeals denied Appellant's Petition for rehearing.

STATEMENT OF FACTS

On May 25, 2007, Debi Baker Brookshire signed a Power of Attorney with Benjamin Lee Hiott. At the time, Defendant Hiott was a Senior Vice President of Community First Bank. A month later, all of the proceeds (\$1,171,823.58) from an established trust account at BB&T were transferred to Respondent, in what Appellant believed to be a Trust account (App. pp. 1009 – 1024, p. 1059, line 19 - p. 1060, line 22; p. 1061, line 15 - p. 1062, line 20; p. 1063, lines 5-10, 17-21; p. 1064, lines 7-11; p. 1065, lines 3-14; p. 1066, lines 3-7; p. 1066, line 12 - p. 1067, line 6; p. 1068, lines 13-24; p. 1069, lines 19-25; p. 1070, lines 18-20; p. 1071, line 1 - p. 1072, line 4) operating in substantially the same manner as her trust at BB&T. At no time did any bank employee, including Hiott, ever inform Appellant that Respondent did not have a trust department or the legal authority to open or maintain a trust account. On the contrary, to Appellant, who's only knowledge of finances came from her own affairs, the account paperwork indicated that she was opening a trust with Respondent. (App. pp. 1009 – 1024). Less than one week after the account was opened, and unbeknownst to the Appellant, Defendant Hiott, acting supposedly under the Power of Attorney, but also acting within the scope and course of his employment and agency with Respondent, issued a \$500,000 cashier's check to a Joseph C. Crosby, an account and loan holder of Respondent. Neither Hiott, Appellant, nor the trust received anything of value in return for the "gift" of half a million dollars. From this point on, Defendant Hiott withdrew or transferred sums in excess of \$2,000,000 from Appellant's

trust account in which Appellant received no benefit.

By reason of Defendant Hiott's position within the bank, he was able to manipulate account balances electronically, and often manipulated account balances by transferring assets from one account to another in order to avoid detection and to attempt to conceal his fraudulent acts.¹ Respondent identified these transfers as "journal transfers." In the years prior to 2007, Defendant Hiott, while acting in his capacity as a Senior Vice President of Respondent, began to manipulate and misappropriate both customer and bank funds. These misappropriations were not discovered by Respondent, due to its lack of internal controls and adherence to standard banking practice, until the allegations regarding Appellant's accounts came to light. Respondent's negligence and failure to operate in a manner consistent with banking industry standards, allowed Appellant to be the victim of a scheme that had begun with other accounts, specifically MPS, Inc., owned by three well known members of the bank and community – James McCoy (Chairman of the Board of Directors of both Respondent and its parent company); John Powell (Owner of Powell Real Estate); and Frederick D. Shepard, Jr. (President of Respondent and Defendant Hiott's direct supervisor), more than two (2) years before Appellant's money was transferred to the Respondent. (App. p. 1027, line 14 - p. 1029, line 18).

Respondent hired Palmetto Consulting Services (hereafter "PCS") to conduct an investigation into irregular transactions in 2013, after repeated requests by Appellant's counsel to explain the discrepancies in Appellant's account. While researching Appellant's account, PCS "became aware that other such 'juggling' entries had been made to the general ledger securities account prior to the initial opening of the Brookshire DDA

¹ Towards the end of the time Appellant's account was open, Appellant requested monies be transferred from her account with Respondent to her BB&T checking account. In an effort to avoid detection, Defendant Hiott transferred money to Appellant's account from other places, including from Respondent's own accounts, as Appellant's account was so depleted of funds.

account.” (App. pp. 1030 – 1053, 1054 – 1057). Defendant Hiott used the accounts of MPS Incorporated, which is comprised of MPS Golf, Inc. and MPS Development, Inc. and owned by Frederick D. Shepherd, Jr., James McCoy, and John Powell. Defendant Hiott, utilizing the exact same concealment scheme as with Appellant’s account, transferred \$1,665,898 of bank money to MPS Incorporated in which the three owners benefitted. (App. pp. 1195 - 1197). Moreover, using the exact same concealment scheme, Defendant Hiott transferred \$994,666 of Respondent’s money to Joseph C. Crosby during the same time as Appellant’s money was stolen. (App. pp. 1195 - 1197). Respondent did not discover either the MPS Incorporated misappropriations nor the Crosby misappropriations committed by Senor Vice President Hiott until the Brookshire investigation in 2013.

Appellant was not aware of receiving bank statements at any point in time while the account was open. (App. p. 1059, line 19 - p. 1060, line 22; p. 1061, line 15 - p. 1062, line 20; p. 1063, lines 5-10, 17-21; p. 1064, lines 7-11; p. 1065, lines 3-14; p. 1066, lines 3-7; p. 1066, line 12 - p. 1067, line 6; p. 1068, lines 13-24; p. 1069, lines 19-25; p. 1070, lines 18-20; p. 1071, line 1 - p. 1072, line 4). At best, Appellant received the few statements discussed in Respondent 's motion when Defendant Hiott returned an RV belonging to Appellant and her husband. (App. p. 1077, lines 13-23). In fact, in early 2010, the bank statements began to read "Exclude - do not mail." According to Carol Wilson, from February 2010 until the closing of the account, these "excluded" and returned statements were placed in a box at the branch. (App. p. 1080, lines 13-24). In fact, Appellant was not provided these specific statements until the morning of Mrs. Wilson's deposition on February 25, 2016. Moreover, Defendant Hiott had access to the mail and could have easily removed all statements from the mail, especially since he had power of attorney over Appellant’s finances. Even if Appellant was receiving statements, these statements would

not be reliable, nor would she have had a reason to question whether or not her money was being misappropriated (App. pp. 651 - 731), as Mr. Hiott engaged in a scheme to conceal the originating and ending location of fund transfers and also manipulated the dates that funds were shown to be transferred or were actually transferred. Further, because Defendant Hiott had a valid POA, further inquiry and detail of the nature of transactions would be necessary to determine if any wrongdoing had taken place. All legitimate transfers to BB&T and other bills look exactly like the illegitimate transfers, as they are all marked as "miscellaneous debits" or "investment counter withdrawals" or "wire transfer." When counsel met with Jim Williams (of counsel for Respondent) and Jeff Griffith (employee for Respondent), Mr. Griffith explained the statements were marked this way because there are rules on how many transactions that can be completed per month with Trust Accounts. Respondent, during the course of this litigation, consistently maintained that the bank did not have a trust department or trust powers and that Mrs. Brookshire's account was NOT a trust account.

On August 23, 2010, Appellant, through counsel (Kathleen McDaniels), requested an accounting of the Trust assets from Respondent. On September 7, 2010, Defendant Hiott sent via facsimile to Appellant's attorney a purported "accounting." This "accounting" consisted of a generic list of amounts withdrawn from the Trust with no explanation of withdrawals, and with no accounting of the monthly deposits Appellant received from Baker & Baker. (App. pp. 1088 - 1091). Defendant Hiott further stated that Ms. Brookshire should have been in possession of the documentation related to the \$500,000 "annuity" and that it was concerning to him that she had not provided this information to Mrs. McDaniels. Unbeknownst to Mrs. McDaniels or Appellant, there was no documentation relating to any "annuity" because no annuity was ever purchased. On September 21, 2010, Appellant's

attorney again requested a formal accounting of the Trust assets. (App. pp. 1093 - 1095). Mrs. McDaniels never received a formal accounting or other complete record of transactions from the account, including transaction details as requested.

Defendant Hiott, acting within the scope and course of his employment with Respondent, closed Appellant's Trust at some point between October 1, 2010, and October 19, 2010 without informing the Appellant of this action. He also failed to disclose that the Trust had a balance of zero. On October 19, 2010, Mrs. McDaniels sent a letter to Frederick D. Shepherd, Jr. (President of Respondent) and James E. McCoy (Chairman of the Respondent's Board), requesting assistance with Defendant Hiott in obtaining the requested documents, including a full accounting. On October 21, 2010, Defendant Hiott sent Appellant's counsel a letter stating that he had set aside money for Appellant's two children and would be glad to send documentation reflecting the whereabouts of this money. (App. p. 1090). Appellant has since learned that these documents do not exist. On December 1, 2010, Mrs. McDaniels and Mr. Williams spoke on the phone. Mr. Williams advised that he would send a full accounting of the Appellant's Trust account. (App. p. 1102). He never did. Moreover, at some point in Mrs. McDaniels' dealings with Respondent, either Defendant Hiott or Mr. Williams told her that the \$500,000 miscellaneous debit was used to purchase a Lafayette product single premium annuity. (App. p. 1105, lines 1 - 16). This, of course, was false information and a direct effort by Defendant Hiott and Respondent to mislead the Appellant and to conceal their malfeasance.

On February 17, 2011, Mrs. McDaniels sent Mr. Williams a letter requesting that Mrs. Brookshire's account be closed and all of the funds delivered to Appellant's attorney. (App. p. 1107). On February 22, 2010, Defendant Hiott, at all times acting within the scope and course of his employment and agency with Respondent, re-opened Appellant's Trust

with one penny. Defendant Hiott, using his managerial position in Respondent, transferred \$285,233.34 from account number 117001 at Respondent bank, via journal entry, into the Trust. That same day Mrs. McDaniels closed the account and received a check in the above-referenced amount which allegedly represented all assets of the Trust. On March 11, 2011, Mrs. McDaniels notified counsel for Respondent that she no longer represented the Appellant and requested that he send the documents requested to Appellant at her home address. (App. p. 1109). These documents were never sent.

Appellant enlisted the help of Tabor Investigative Services to track down the paperwork associated with the \$500,000 miscellaneous debit. On November 27, 2012 Tabor Investigative Services phoned Carol Wilson, an employee of Respondent, and requested documents from Appellant's Trust account. Mrs. Wilson requested that a signed authorization of release be faxed to her for her review and that she would contact Tabor when she received the authorization. This authorization was sent the same day and as of the date this case was dismissed, Tabor Investigative Services has yet to receive a response to this request from anyone at Respondent. (App. pp. 1111 - 1113).

On March 19, 2013, Appellant, through current counsel, sent a letter to Defendant Hiott requesting an accounting of the Trust assets and a meeting. Copies of this letter were also sent to Frederick D. Shepherd, Jr., James E. McCoy, and Carol Wilson. (App. p. 1115). Sometime between March 19, 2013 and May 7, 2013, Defendant Hiott telephoned counsel and represented that the \$500,000 transfer was put into two separate annuities for Appellant's two children and that the annuities were placed with Nationwide Insurance Agency. Nationwide Insurance has no annuities payable to Appellant or her children. This was yet another direct effort by Defendant Hiott and Respondent to mislead the Appellant. (App. pp. 1117 - 1118).

On May 7, 2013, Tabor Investigative Services and counsel met with Defendant Hiott. In this meeting Defendant Hiott informed Tabor and counsel that he wrote a check for \$500,000 to Mr. Holcombe of Holcombe Insurance Agency in Easley, South Carolina and that Mr. Holcombe used the funds to purchase two annuities in the names of Jordan Taylor Blackwell and Laura Ann Elizabeth Blackwell (Appellant's children) from Lafayette Insurance Company. Lafayette Insurance has no annuities payable to the Appellant or her children. Moreover, Defendant Hiott and Respondent failed to provide Appellant with a formal accounting of the Trust. (App. pp. 1117 – 1118). Additionally, Defendant Hiott said he would not provide any documentation unless Appellant provided the following information: "account of amounts and purpose of Debi's withdrawals from her BB&T account(s); copy of her tax returns since 2009; copy of her DBS reports; and asked her to be drug tested." (App. p. 1120).

On June 14, 2013, Appellant's counsel sent a letter to Mr. Williams, counsel for Respondent, informing him of the communications between counsel and Defendant Hiott and again requesting a formal accounting of the Trust. (App. pp. 1117 – 1118).

On July 18, 2013, Mr. Williams wrote to Appellant's counsel and he advised that Defendant Hiott indicated to him that the \$500,000 was removed from the Trust, with Appellant's consent and knowledge, for an investment with Joseph C. Crosby, Jr., and that the Appellant was provided a promissory note signed by Mr. Crosby and that Appellant was in possession of the note. Appellant does not and has never had a promissory note, nor had she ever heard of Mr. Crosby before this lawsuit, has never met him, and was never aware of this transaction. Respondent provided some documents related to the Trust but did not provide a formal and complete accounting, or a copy of the alleged promissory note. Mr. Crosby testified that he never signed a promissory note with Appellant. (App. p. 1123). The

bogus promissory note was just more false information provided by the Respondent and Defendant Hiott to the Appellant in order to delay any lawsuit.

On August 19, 2013, Appellant's counsel requested records of all deposits and the source of the deposits into the Trust, all documents related to any and all "miscellaneous debits" and "investment counter withdrawals," and all monthly bank statements from November 1, 2010 through February 22, 2011. (App. pp. 1131 – 1136). Having not heard from Respondent, Appellant sent a follow up letter on September 17, 2013. (App. p. 1138). Again, not hearing anything from Respondent or counsel. Appellant sent another follow up letter on October 17, 2013 re-requesting the documents listed in the two previous letters as well as a full accounting and an entire copy of the Trust file from the date of creation to date of termination. (App. pp. 1140 – 1146).

On December 17, 2013, Respondent provided the Appellant with the documents purportedly showing the activities in the Trust account. Donald Jones, with Palmetto Consulting, created 4 binders detailing the Appellant's Trust Account for Respondent. When Mr. Jones turned them over to Mr. Shepherd, Mr. Jones was able to account for all transactions in and out of the Trust. When transferring the 4 binders to Appellant's counsel, Mr. Williams and Mr. Griffith represented to Appellant's counsel that these were all of the documents associated with the Trust. This was in fact, not the case. Paperwork for over \$500,000 was purposefully withheld from the four (4) binders provided to the Appellant. Mr. Jones testified "Mr. Shepherd was responsible for what was put in the binders or not. He was asking me for, you know, data to copy to respond to you. I knew he was doing that. And Jeff Griffith was working with him but it appeared to me, from the conversation that was going on right outside my door, that Mr. Shepherd was deciding what to put in the binders and what not to, not Jeff." (App. p. 1149, line 5 – p. 1150, line 24).

Moreover, Appellant subpoenaed Palmetto Consulting's entire file with relation to this investigation. Over 40,000 pages of documents were produced. Within these pages were the 4 binders (in scanned format) that had previously been produced by Respondent to Appellant. Within these binders, the paperwork associated with the approximately \$500,000 missing transactions was indeed present. These pages were intentionally withheld from the Appellant. The transactions revealed within the 40,000 pages produced by Palmetto Consulting, many of which were intentionally withheld by Respondent despite Appellant's repeated attempts to obtain this information, include the following:

- \$310,510.75 juggling:

- On 12/31/2007, \$310,510.75 went from Appellant's account into Respondent's account # 1002901 (Due From Bank - Banker's Bank).

- On January 7, 2008, \$310,510.75 was transferred from account #1052201 (State County Muni Securities - AFS) into Appellant's account, causing Appellant to lose the use of and interest for a full week.

- On March 31, 2008, \$310,510.75 was transferred from account 1029002 into account 1052201.

- Respondent represented in their Responses to Appellant's 1st set of interrogatories that this \$310,510.75 transaction in Appellant's account was a "reverse transaction." According to Jeff Griffith's testimony, this transaction was not a reverse transaction and he "would call it juggling." (App. p. 1153, line 2 – p. 1154, line 16). When posed with the question, "that's not a reverse transaction is it," Don Jones testified, "It's a juggling—no. He's moving, hiding money from one place to the other, juggling." (App. p. 1157, line 2 – p. 1158, line 12)

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