RECEIVED

May 31 2023

S.C. SUPREME COURT

THE STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA  
In The Supreme Court

APPEAL FROM OCONEE COUNTY  
Court of Common Pleas

J. Cordell Maddox, Jr., Circuit Court Judge

Appellate Case No. 2022-000756

Debi Baker Brookshire .....Appellant,

v.

Community First Bank, Inc. and Benjamin Hiott,  
of which,

Community First Bank, Inc. is.....Respondent.

**BRIEF OF RESPONDENT**

HAYNSWORTH SINKLER BOYD, PA  
Robert Y. Knowlton, SC Bar No. 3589  
Elizabeth H. Black, SC Bar No. 76067  
Post Office Box 11889  
Columbia, SC 29211  
(803) 779-3080

*Attorneys for Respondent Community First  
Bank, Inc.*

Other Counsel of Record:  
THE GIESE LAW FIRM, LLC

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

## ARGUMENT

### **I. The existence of multiple additional sustaining grounds requires affirmance by this Court.**

The trial court granted summary judgment to Community First on all of Brookshire's six causes of action and on myriad overlapping and equally dispositive grounds. (App. pp. 144-148). Before this Court, Brookshire challenges only three of the 11 grounds on which the trial court granted summary judgment to Community First: (1) S.C. Code Ann. § 15-3-110 (number 4 on the trial court's list); (2) S.C. Code Ann. § 15-3-530(5) (number 3 on the trial court's list); and (3) equitable tolling and equitable estoppel (number 5 on the trial court's list). (Brookshire Brief p. 1; App. p. 145).<sup>8</sup> Brookshire has thus left unchallenged in this Court and unpreserved for review the following rulings, *both* of which independently and thoroughly dispose of *all* of Brookshire's claims:

(1) Plaintiff's power of attorney to Hiott bars her claims against Community First because there is no genuine issue of material fact that, by the power of attorney, Plaintiff authorized Hiott to take all of the actions he did with regard to Plaintiff's account at Community First, and the law imposes no duty on Community First to monitor or regulate Hiott's activities and decisions undertaken pursuant to the power of attorney.

(2) Plaintiff's claims that Hiott's disbursements from Plaintiff's account at Community First were unauthorized are time barred under the Uniform Commercial Code's statute of repose set forth in S.C. Code Ann. § 36-4-406 because there is no genuine issue of material fact that Plaintiff failed to timely challenge the disbursements.

(App. p. 145). Brookshire has also left unchallenged the grants of summary judgment on all six of her individual causes of action. (App. pp. 145-146).

The Court of Appeals "affirm[ed] the summary judgment on Brookshire's claims ...." (App. p. 116). The Court of Appeals addressed three issues and held, among other things, that the

---

<sup>8</sup> The trial court denied Brookshire's Rule 59(e) motion seeking reconsideration of the summary judgment order. (App. pp. 149-150).

trial court properly concluded that Brookshire's claims were barred by the statute of limitations set forth in S.C. Code Ann. §§ 15-3-530(5), -535. (App. p. 116). Based on its dispositive ruling, the Court of Appeals did not need to address and did not address the remaining independent grounds upon which the trial court granted summary judgment in favor of Community First. (App. pp. 117-118). Brookshire filed a Petition for Rehearing that addressed the three grounds addressed by the Court of Appeals and no others. (App. pp. 122-127). Brookshire's Petition for Writ of Certiorari mirrors those three grounds, as well, as it was required to do. Rule 242(d)(2), SCACR ("Only those questions raised in the Court of Appeals and in the petition for rehearing shall be included in the petition for writ of certiorari as a question presented to the Supreme Court."). Brookshire, however, failed to raise any argument in her Petition for Rehearing, Petition for Certiorari to this Court, or in her Initial Brief to this Court regarding the eight *other* rulings contained in the order granting summary judgment to Community First on Brookshire's claims. Consequently, those eight rulings are "the law of the case" and constitute independent and dispositive grounds for affirmance. *See Robinson v. Estate of Harris*, 388 S.C. 616, 627 n.8, 698 S.E.2d 214, 220 n.8 (2010) ("The Court of Appeals affirmed the circuit court's order based on section 15-67-90 and Respondent's status as a bona fide purchaser for value without notice. Petitioners, however, failed to raise any arguments in their petition for rehearing or initial brief to this Court regarding the circuit court's ruling as to the doctrine of laches. Accordingly, we find the doctrine of laches is the law of the case and this Court is justified in affirming on that basis."); *Sloan v. Dep't of Transp.*, 365 S.C. 299, 307, 618 S.E.2d 876, 880 (2005) ("The circuit court judge also determined two of the three actions were barred by laches. The Court of Appeals, after holding Sloan did not have standing, specifically declined to address the laches issue. On appeal to this Court, Sloan failed to raise the laches issue. The failure to appeal an alternative ground of

the judgment below will result in affirmance.”); *S.C. Tax Comm’n v. Gaston Copper Recycling Corp.*, 316 S.C. 163, 170, 447 S.E.2d 843, 847 (1994) (“This Court will affirm where an appellant fails to appeal the alternative ground of a trial judge’s ruling.”); *Biales v. Young*, 315 S.C. 166, 168, 432 S.E.2d 482, 484 (1993) (“Failure to argue is an abandonment of the issue and precludes consideration on appeal.”); *Lindsay v. Lindsay*, 328 S.C. 329, 338, 491 S.E.2d 583, 587 (Ct. App. 1997) (“It is a fundamental rule of law that an appellate court will affirm a ruling by a lower court if the offended party does not challenge that ruling.”).<sup>9</sup>

Indeed, should this Court reverse the Court of Appeals on any or all of the three issues presented by Brookshire (which it should not), it would have no practical effect on the outcome of the case. All of Brookshire’s claims are still barred by the POA she gave to Hiott and the UCC’s statute of repose. All six of Brookshire’s claims fail on the merits as a matter of law. As the granting of summary judgment to Community First on these eight other grounds is the law of the case, an opinion of this Court finding in Brookshire’s favor would amount to nothing more than an impermissible advisory opinion. *See, e.g., Booth v. Grissom*, 265 S.C. 190, 192, 217 S.E.2d 223, 224 (1975) (“It is elementary that the courts of this State have no jurisdiction to issue advisory opinions.”); *Binkley v. Rabon Creek Watershed Conservation Dist. of Fountain Inn*, 348 S.C. 58, 76 n.36, 558 S.E.2d 902, 911 n.36 (Ct. App. 2001) (“This court will not issue advisory opinions that have no practical effect on the outcome.”).<sup>10</sup>

---

<sup>9</sup> Brookshire never appealed to the Court of Appeals the trial court’s grant of summary judgment on two causes of action: negligence/gross negligence and for an accounting. (App. pp. 6, 146). “[S]hould the appealing party fail to raise all of the grounds upon which a lower court’s decision was based, those unappealed findings—whether correct or not—become the law of the case.” *Dreher v. S.C. Dep’t of Health & Env’t. Control*, 412 S.C. 244, 250, 772 S.E.2d 505, 508 (2015).

<sup>10</sup> At the very least, “an appellate court may affirm the lower court’s judgment for any reason appearing in the record on appeal.” *I’On, LLC v. Town of Mt. Pleasant*, 338 S.C. 406, 420-21, 526 S.E.2d 716, 723 (2000). The record on appeal reveals abundant reasons for affirming the

**II. The Court of Appeals correctly ruled that S.C. Code Ann. § 15-3-110 does not apply to this matter because Brookshire’s claims do not involve bank-issued notes circulated as currency.**

South Carolina Code Ann. § 15-3-110 (originally adopted in 1870) states that the chapter setting forth statutes of limitations for various causes of action “shall not affect actions to enforce the payment of bills, notes or other evidences of debt issued by moneyed corporations or issued or put in circulation as money.” Brookshire suggested to the trial court and the Court of Appeals that, as a result of Section 15-3-110, no statute of limitations whatsoever applied to the claims she asserted against Community First in this case.

Brookshire argues that the Court of Appeals failed to issue a ruling as to why S.C. Code Ann. § 15-3-110 does not apply to the claims she asserted against Community First. This is incorrect, as the Court of Appeals addressed this issue, holding that “we agree with Community First that this statute applies to bank instruments that are not at issue here.” (App. p. 117). The undisputed history of this statute demonstrates that it does not apply to Brookshire’s claims, and Brookshire’s arguments are also inconsistent with the UCC’s statute of repose.

Brookshire focuses on only one aspect of S.C. Code Ann. § 15-3-110 and deems it dispositive: whether Community First would be considered a “moneyed corporation” (it would). But Brookshire ignores the remaining language of the statute limiting its application to actions or claims for “the payment of bills, notes or other evidences of debt issued by moneyed corporations or issued or put in circulation as money.” *Id.* Both historical banking practice and cases from other jurisdictions with similar statutes<sup>11</sup> demonstrate that this statute is antiquated and applies

---

grant of summary judgment on grounds unaddressed by Brookshire in this Court. (*See* App. pp. 62-77; 90-98).

<sup>11</sup> *See* N.D. Cent. Code Ann. § 28-01-35 (West); S.D. Codified Laws § 15-2-18; Mo. Ann. Stat. § 516.310 (West); Miss. Code Ann. § 15-1-79 (West).

only to bank-specific bills, notes, or actual tangible instruments intended to function as currency, which are no longer circulated and of which there is no evidence of use by Community First here.

In *Butts v. Vicksburg & Meridian R.R. Co.*, 63 Miss. 462 (Miss. 1886), the appellants argued that notes issued by a railroad company were substantially the same as bank notes to which the statute of limitations did not apply. The Supreme Court of Mississippi held that the statutory exception to the statute of limitations did not apply because the railroad-issued notes had ceased to circulate as currency and had ceased to be taken in and reissued by banks. *Id.* at 465. The Court explained why bank notes were excepted from the statute of limitations:

While the general rule is that statutes of limitation do not apply to bank bills, because they are by the consent of mankind and course of business *considered as money*, and that their date is no evidence of the time when they were issued, as they are being continually returned and reissued by the banks, yet if such bills have ceased to circulate as currency and have ceased to be taken in and reissued by the banks, they no longer have that distinctive character from other contracts which exempts them from the operation of the statutes of limitation.

*Id.* (emphasis added). In *Quattrochi v. Farmer's & Merchants' Bank*, 89 Mo. App. 500 (Mo. Ct. App. 1901), the Court held that an action against a bank to recover the difference between a balance shown and the balance that was actually due was not within the purview of Missouri's statute excepting actions to enforce bills, notes, and other evidences of debt from the general statute of limitations because the claim did not involve notes circulated as money. *Id.* at 508, 510. Thus, under *Butts* and *Quattrochi*, this type of statute applies only in situations where a moneyed corporation circulated its own bills or notes intended to function as money.

Brookshire is not seeking to enforce any bill, note, or evidence of indebtedness *issued* by Community First that would be *considered as money*. Further, the cases applying this statute all arose in a pre-New Deal economic era where companies, including banks, would circulate their own bills and currency. (See App. pp. 1039-1041; 1043-1045). Community First is not issuing

any specialized currency, and Brookshire has made no claim that it has. Thus, this statute simply does not apply to this matter at all.

Further, applying this statute to the modern practice of banking would upend the UCC and decades of established case law. The UCC represents a specific balancing of modern commercial practice and a careful allocation of rights and responsibilities among the parties to commerce. Article 4 of the UCC specifically addresses the timeframe that a bank customer has to challenge disbursements from his or her Account—limiting the maximum timeframe to one year. S.C. Code Ann. § 36-4-406 (2003 & Supp. 2022) as applicable; *see also Sabatino v. Atl. Sav. Bank, F.S.B.*, 314 S.C. 402, 403, 444 S.E.2d 537, 538 (Ct. App. 1994). The statute of repose contained in the UCC,<sup>12</sup> as a more recent and specific statute, prevails over the older and more general provisions of S.C. Code Ann. § 15-3-110. *See Stone v. State (City of Orangeburg)*, 313 S.C. 533, 535, 443 S.E.2d 544, 545 (1994). Further, “[a] statute of limitations is a procedural device that operates as a defense to limit the remedy from an existing cause of action. A statute of repose creates a substantive right in those protected to be free from liability after a legislatively determined period of time.” *Capco of Summerville, Inc. v. J.H. Gayle Constr. Co., Inc.*, 368 S.C. 137, 142, 628 S.E.2d 38, 41 (2006). As § 15-3-110 only applies to bar statutes of limitation, it does not affect the UCC statute of repose at S.C. Code Ann. § 36-4-406. The trial court and the Court of Appeals both correctly held that, on the merits of the argument, S.C. Code Ann. § 15-3-110 does not apply to this matter.

---

<sup>12</sup> The UCC, as codified at S.C. Code Ann. § 36-4-406, is a statute of repose. *See Peters v. Riggs Nat’l Bank, N.A.*, 942 A.2d 1163, 1168-69 (D.C. 2008); *First Place Computers, Inc. v. Sec. Nat’l Bank of Omaha*, 558 N.W.2d 57, 60 (Neb. 1997) (both holding that § 4-406 is a statute of repose). For the UCC, the General Assembly has provided “a statement of legislative direction to the courts of a tendency to imply an interpretation and construction of the Code sections which is consistent with the case law construction of those sections in other Code jurisdictions.” S.C. Code Ann. § 36-1-103, S.C. Reporter’s Cmt. (Supp. 2022).

Brookshire also argues that the trial court and the Court of Appeals' rulings on this particular issue are invalid because the trial court's order "relied on unfiled materials not properly before the court for consideration." Brookshire Brief p. 14. Brookshire cites no authority for this position and makes no citations to the voluminous case record. Notwithstanding this failure to substantiate her position, her argument fails on the merits. First, the record reveals that Community First cited case law, statutory law, and scholarly articles in support of its argument on this issue, all of which was briefed to both the trial court and the Court of Appeals. (*See* App. pp. 1291-1293). The trial court had these written materials during the summary judgment hearing on December 13, 2016 (App. pp. 1344-1345, 1357), and had the filed version of these materials during the Rule 59(e) hearing on December 6, 2017. (App. pp. 1286-1345, 1445). Second, there is no requirement to file a memorandum under the South Carolina Rules of Civil Procedure, and there is no dispute that Community First's reply memorandum and attachments were presented to the trial court and were thus appropriately contained in the record on appeal for this case. *See* Rule 210(c), SCACR; App. pp. 1344-1345. Third, Brookshire failed to properly present this issue to the Court of Appeals, as she failed to list this issue in her Statement of Issues on Appeal for the Court of Appeals' consideration. (App. p. 6). *Allen v. Pinnacle Healthcare Sys., LLC*, 394 S.C. 268, 277-78, 715 S.E.2d 362, 367 (Ct. App. 2011) ("Appellants did not include this issue in their statement of issues on appeal. ... Therefore, we find this issue is not preserved for our review.").

For all of the above reasons, the Court of Appeals correctly ruled that S.C. Code Ann. § 15-3-110 does not apply to this matter and should be affirmed.

**III. The Court of Appeals correctly ruled that Brookshire's claims were barred by the three-year statute of limitations set forth in S.C. Code Ann. § 15-3-530.**

As noted by the Court of Appeals, civil actions for "any injury to the person or rights of another" are barred if not filed within three years, which period begins to run when the injured

party “knew or by the exercise of reasonable diligence should have known that he had a cause of action.” S.C. Code Ann. §§ 15-3-530, -535. (*See* App. p. 116). The Court of Appeals correctly affirmed the trial court’s ruling that Brookshire’s claims were barred by this statute of limitations.

**A. The Court of Appeals correctly ruled that Brookshire “knew or should have known” a claim might exist against Community First at multiple points more than three years prior to suit.**

Brookshire argues that the Court of Appeals erred in finding that a single triggering date for the statute of limitations applies to all of the transactions she challenged in this matter. Brookshire Brief p. 16. The Court of Appeals did not make such a ruling. Rather, it held that “the record shows *multiple points* more than three years before she brought this action when Brookshire knew or should have known she had claims against Community First” (emphasis added). (App. p. 116).

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